Indiana State University

Sycamore Scholars

All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2013

Emotional Intelligence In Certified Athletic Trainers

Elizabeth Houser Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

Houser, Elizabeth, "Emotional Intelligence In Certified Athletic Trainers" (2013). *All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1384.

https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1384

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

EMOTIONAL INTELLIGENCE IN CERTIFIED ATHLETIC TRAINERS

A thesis

Presented to

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Department of Applied Medicine and Rehabilitation

Indiana State University

Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science in Athletic Training

By

Elizabeth Houser

May 2013

© Elizabeth Houser 2013

Keywords: self-reflection, relationship management, health care, interpersonal skills

UMI Number: 1542745

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 1542745

Published by ProQuest LLC (2013). Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author.

Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.
All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Committee Chair: Lindsey E. Eberman, PhD, ATC

Assistant Professor, Undergraduate Program Director

Department of Applied Medicine and Rehabilitation

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Leamor Kahanov, EdD, ATC

Professor, Chair

Department of Applied Medicine and Rehabilitation

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Mark Cole, PhD, ATC

Assistant Professor Sport Psychology & Athletic Training

Department of Kinesiology

Western Illinois University

ABSTRACT

CONTEXT: Athletic trainers' duties include facilitating rehabilitation, preventing injuries, emergency preparation and situation management. Emotional intelligence (EI) is critical in management, specifically positive patient outcomes. High stress situations necessitates practitioners evaluate the emotions of others to seek the most efficacious outcome. To date, the impact of athletic trainer EI on effectively and safely performing responsibilities has not assessed.

OBJECTIVE: To describe the EI of certified athletic trainers as determined by the Self-Report EI Test (SREIT) (Cronbach's α =0.90).

DESIGN: Descriptive research study.

SETTING: Internet Survey.

PARTICIPANTS: We recruited 1000 certified athletic trainers working in a variety of settings across the United States. We had 73 respondents for a 7.3% response rate assuming all invitations were delivered.

INTERVENTION: We obtained approval from the Indiana State University IRB prior to study initiation. The NATA e-mailed potential participants a link to our survey and a request for completion.

MAIN OUTCOME MEASURES: The survey consisted of 38 questions, including 4 demographic questions (gender, age, level of education, and athletic training setting) and 1 open ended question requesting the participant to define EI. The SREIT constituted the majority of the

survey consisting of 33 5-point Likert scale questions regarding EI. We calculated the total scale (possible range: 33-165) and sub-scale scores for perception of emotion (possible range=10-50), managing individuals own emotions (possible range=9-45), managing others' emotions (possible range=8-40) and utilization of emotions (possible range=6-30).

RESULTS: Participants varied in gender, employment setting and age suggesting we identified a diverse population of respondents. We did not identify any significant differences (t_{71} =-0.698, p=0.487) between males (126.6±12.9) and females (128.9±14.0) on the SREIT total score (127.9±13.4). We did not observe any significant differences between age categories: 21-20y (129.4±12.8), 31-40y (125.5±13.7), 41-50y (125.3±15.7), 51-60y (129.44±13.4). We did not identify any significant differences between athletic trainers in the college/university (128.7±15.0), clinic (127.2±10.4), secondary school (126.4 ± 13.8) or various other settings (129.5±13.7). We did not identify any statistical differences among our comparison groups on the subscales: perception of emotion (38.3±5.9), managing individuals own emotions (36.3±4.2), managing others' emotions (30.8±4.0) and utilization of emotions (22.6±2.8).

CONCLUSIONS: Several studies have used the SREIT to measure EI in various populations (university students, parents, teaching interns, employees, managers, etc.). The athletic trainers in our investigation performed slightly higher than the average scores in the other 33 investigations (mean=126.1, range=117.5-142.5) and on-par with studies (n=8) only involving full-time adult employees or managers (mean=127.8, range=121.1-142.5). Both the males and females in this study performed higher than those noted in the literature (7 studies: males=120.7, females=126.2). Athletic trainers demonstrate comparable levels of EI, but do not demonstrate any significant differences among genders, ages, or employment settings.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my thesis committee for their support, guidance and advice throughout the process of completing my thesis. Your honest evaluation of my work, input on my topic, vision for this project and patience was integral in making this a positive learning experience. I would also like to thank my friends and family for their constant support and encouragement throughout this process.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	V
INTRODUCTION	1
Research Question	3
Legend of Abbreviations and Definitions	3
Expected Outcomes	3
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5
Search Strategy	5
Emotional Intelligence	5
Core Areas of Emotional Intelligence	6
Measuring Emotional Intelligence	8
Gender and Emotional Intelligence	10
Maturity and Experience Related to Emotional Intelligence	10
Emotional Intelligence and Professional Performance	11
Professional Characteristics of Health Care Professionals	12
Conclusion	14
METHODS	15
Study Design	15
Participants	15

Instrument	
Procedures	16
Data Analysis	16
MANUSCRIPT	17
Introduction	17
Methods	18
Results	19
Discussion	21
Conclusion	26
REFERENCES	29
APPENDIX A: STUDY PARAMETERS	34
Operational Definitions	34
Assumptions	34
Delimitations	34
Limitations	34
APPENDIX B: THE ASSESSING EMOTIONS SCALE	36
APPENDIX C: RAW DATA	39
APPENDIX D: STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	44
APPENDIX E: RECOMMENDATIONS	53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographics	27
Table 2. EI Scores	28

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Health care providers are often in positions that require performance under stressful situations such as nurses, emergency medical technicians, emergency room physicians, and athletic trainers. Medical providers are required to work in emergency situations and therefore must be able to act under high stress calmly and efficiently. Athletic trainers in particular spend a portion of their duties facilitating rehabilitation and preventing injuries in conjunction with emergency preparation and emergency situation management. Emotional intelligence is vital in these situations because practitioner control of their emotions is critical for effective job performance and positive patient outcomes. During high stress situations, it is also imperative to evaluate the emotions of others to seek the most efficacious outcome. The patient may become irrational, parents become intrusive, coaches may want to know the extent of the injury immediately and the practitioner needs to be able to interpret these emotions and adjust their responses accordingly. As of yet, the emotional intelligence of Athletic Trainers has not been studied but may have a critical impact on their ability to effectively and safely manage emergency situations and treat patients.

Emotional intelligence (EI) is a derivative of social intelligence which incorporates an individual's ability to control their emotions, as well as identify the emotions of others.² Five core areas are studied under the umbrella of EI: self-awareness, self-regulation, self-motivation,

empathy, and social skills. EI continues to gain popularity as the rationale for an individual's potential success and ability to cope with stressful situations.³⁻⁹

Two viewpoints exist regarding EI, the ability approach and the trait approach. Ability EI is intelligence based on emotional information. Conversely, trait EI views EI as part of an individual's personality and something that cannot be changed. Ability and trait EI are often referred to under the umbrella term EI. A proposed three-level model of EI attempts to unify the trait and ability models by proposing to capture differences between individuals in to three categories. The three categories include knowledge of the complexity of emotion and beliefs concerning emotions, the ability to apply that knowledge to problem solving situations, and the disposition or propensity to put the knowledge and ability into practice. This model allows for the consolidation of both trait and ability EI by recognizing the EI component that we are born with along with the aptitude an individual has to increase their EI.

Research on EI occurs in various settings and often seeks to establish relationships between high EI and positive behaviors. Specifically researchers have observed a correlation between higher EI and positive traits including academic success, ^{13,14} optimism, prosocial behavior, impulse control, parental warmth, and positive peer and family relations. ^{6,15} Individuals with high EI present with more effective mood management ¹⁶, the ability to adapt to stress ¹⁷ and more proficient during social interactions. ¹⁸ In contrast, lower EI has been related to self-destructive behaviors including deviant behavior, drug taking, alcohol abuse, cigarette smoking, and poor relationships. ^{19,20} EI is recognized as an important skill when it comes to savvy interpersonal skills and the ability to work well and collaborate with others. ²¹ Researchers suggest that EI is vital for effective practice within the health care system, particularly concerning delivering patient-centered care. ²²⁻²⁸

Athletic trainers as members of the health care profession must view the ability to manage and read emotions as an important skill.²⁹ The ability to manage and read emotions has the ability to improve patient-centered care, enhance the quality of the professional-patient relationship, and positively affect patients' satisfaction.²⁹ Due to the importance of EI in the health care profession, we will investigate EI in athletic trainers practicing in a variety of professional settings.

Research Question

What is the emotional intelligence of certified athletic trainers as determined by the self-report emotional intelligence test?

Legend of Abbreviations and Definitions

AT—Certified Athletic Trainer

NATA—National Athletic Training Association

Ability EI—Emotional Intelligence, the ability to perceive, utilize, understand and manage emotions in self and others.^{2,6}

Trait EI—Emotional Intelligence, emotion-related dispositions including the way people attend to, identify, understand,, regulate and utilize their own emotions as well as the emotions of others 11,12,30

Ability EI—"cognitive-emotional ability" measured via maximum-performance tests¹¹

Trait EI—"emotional self-efficacy" measured via self-report questionnaires¹¹

Expected Outcomes

The proposed study is an observational descriptive study and therefore, hypotheses are not appropriate. At the conclusion of this research study, we expect to draw conclusions about

the EI characteristics of certified athletic trainers. As a result, we describe the average EI level of certified athletic trainers working in a variety of settings.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Emotional intelligence (EI) is defined as the ability to identify emotions in self as well as others.³¹ As health care providers, the need for self and social awareness is essential for positive patient outcomes. In the following literature review, I will discuss EI, how it relates to gender, maturity, experience and professional performance, and EI characteristics common among health care providers.

Search Strategy

The CINAHL, Cochrane, PubMed and PubMed central databases were employed to find peer reviewed literature on EI. The researchers used the following key words: emotional intelligence, mindfulness, social competence, medicine, athletic trainer, health care professional.

Emotional Intelligence

EI has been defined as a part of social intelligence which incorporates an individual's ability to control their emotions as well as other individuals' emotions.² In order to accomplish control of emotions, the individual must first be able to distinguish between emotions. Once the emotions are observed by the individual there must be an integration of that information into their thoughts and actions.² In this study, we will be looking at EI from the perspective of trait EI. Trait EI is emotional self-efficacy which consists of emotion-related traits and the abilities an individual perceives that they possess.¹¹ Research has found that a high trait EI score

corresponds to temperaments commonly known to have a greater ability to adapt to demanding situations. 12

Core Areas of Emotional Intelligence

The five core areas of EI attempt to encapsulate all aspects of interpreting emotions; self-awareness, self-regulation, self-motivation, empathy, and social skills. The first three core areas, self-awareness, self-regulation and self-motivation, relate to an individual's ability to recognize and moderate his or her own emotions as well as use their emotions as motivation. Self-awareness is the fundamental concept described as the ability to understand emotions, strengths, weaknesses, needs and drives.³² An individual who scores high in EI in regard to self-awareness will be better equipped to recognize their own emotions. On the other hand, an individual who lacks this category of EI will struggle with knowing how to react when others express emotions.

The second core area, self-regulation has some similarities to self-awareness. Self-regulation is an individual's tendency toward self-reflection, the ability to adjust to new circumstances, and choosing to say no when tempted to be impulsive. ³² Theoretically self-regulation is a preemptive process where an individual is able to organize and manage their thoughts, emotions, behaviors, and environment. ³³ Self-regulation is a process that from a trait EI perspective an individual is born with and has this tendency in their psychological core. The process of self-regulation can be in relation to a variety of activities from emotions and social interactions to academic goals. From an academic perspective self-regulation can be accomplished by setting goals, choosing and applying strategies, monitoring performance and reflecting on the outcomes over a period of time. ³⁴ In regard to EI self-regulation enables an individual to live with a clearly defined purpose and an awareness of the individuals own abilities.

Self-motivation is the desire to pursue dreams and relishing in the potential challenges that may be faced to accomplish goals and desires. ³² Included in self-motivation is setting self-rewards and creating a supportive work environment. ³⁴ Assessment of individual motivation involves evaluating belief in their capabilities, as well as how much they value given tasks ³³ Part of self-motivation is also learning how to manage distractions and developing time management skills. Included in self-motivation is also the idea that you ultimately control your own happiness or contentment with the job that you accomplish. Therefore, an individual with a high level of EI will not allow their surroundings or other individuals to control their emotions resulting in a more emotionally stable and reliable individual.

The final two core areas, empathy and social skills, incorporate how an individual interacts with others. Empathy is defined as thinking of others before acting. ³² Empathy has been divided into two categories: cognitive empathy and affective empathy. Cognitive empathy is the rational ability of an individual to distinguish and categorize another's feelings. ³⁵ Affective empathy differs in that included after identifying others emotions there is an emotional response to the situation. ³⁵ When experiencing empathy for another individual two types of responses exist: personal distress or empathic concern. Personal distress occurs when a negative emotion is experienced as a result of witnessing another individual's distress or tragedy. ³⁶⁻³⁸ Furthermore, it includes an inward focus on how that situation makes the individual feel rather than focusing on the individual in distress. Empathic concern on the other hand is focused on the other individual and the concern felt for them. These two views of empathy can be combined resulting in an individual who is able to recognize others feelings as well as feel for their struggles. When relating this ability to EI an individual who scores high in this area will think of others and their

problems in a way that enables the individual to assist in the situation as well as potentially move forward to prevent such situations in the future.

The last area evaluated in EI is social skills which can include the ability to communicate effectively both vocally and through body language as well as self-control. ^{32,39} Social skills are large scope and thus definitions are ambiguous. Social skills Included in social skills is also a component of being able to effectively present ideas, analyze and solve problems, take initiative, plan and organize and work together as a team. ⁴⁰ Ultimately, an individual who has well developed social skills in regard to EI will bring various personalities into a harmonious working environment because they are aware of all facets of emotion being expressed by the group.

Measuring Emotional Intelligence

Emotional intelligence measures range from self-report personality-based approaches to ability-based assessment measures.³ The Bar-ON Emotional Quotient Inventory (EQ-i), Multifactor Emotional Intelligence Scale (MEIS), Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT) and the Self-Report EI Test (SREIT) are only four of the many instruments used to measure EI.

Bar-On Emotional Quotient Inventory (EQ-i)

The EQ-I is a 133 item self-report measure designed to measure five factors: intrapersonal EI, interpersonal EI, adaptability, stress management and general mood. ¹⁹ Reports for the EQ-I tool consist of a combination of graphical representations and descriptions given on the basis of a 50-150 point scale. Scores are reported for overall EI as well as each of the five factors. Adequate test-retest reliability for the EQ-I has been demonstrated (r=.73). ¹⁹ Reported reliability has a slight variation across ten studies from α = .69 to .86. ¹⁹

Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MEIS and MSCEIT V.2)

The MEIS and MSCEIT are 141 item state based tests designed to measure four abilities. Reports for the MEIS and MSCEIT tests are a combination of graphical representations and descriptions given on a 50-150 point scale for overall EI as well as each of the four abilities. Each of these abilities is measured in a different way: the ability to perceive emotion is measured by rating how much an emotion is expressed in a picture of a face, design or landscape and the ability to integrate emotion to facilitate thought is measured by describing emotional sensations and how they correspond to sensory modalities. ¹⁹ The ability to understand emotion is observed by looking at how individuals blend emotions and how their reactions change with time and lastly, the ability to regulate emotions to promote personal growth is measured by having individuals choose how they manage their own emotions and others' emotions in a hypothetical situation. ¹⁹ High test-retest reliability has been reported (r (59) = .86, p<0.001) and the reliability coefficient has been reported as r=.91. ^{19,41}

Self-Report EI Test (SREIT)

The SREIT is also referred to as the Assessing Emotions Scale, Emotional Intelligence Scale, or the Schutte Emotional Intelligence Scale. The SREIT is the shortest of the tools used to measure EI at 33 questions. The SREIT is based on Schutte's understanding of Salovey and Mayer's model of EI and assesses trait EI. Responses are given on a five point likert scale including strongly disagree, somewhat disagree, neither agree nor disagree, somewhat agree and strongly agree. The total scale score is calculated by reverse coding items 5, 28 and 33 and then calculating a score between 33 to 165. (See Appendix B for complete list of included questions) Test results are divided into four categories: perception of emotion (items 5, 9, 15, 18, 19, 22, 25, 29, 32, 33), managing individuals own emotions (items 2, 3, 10, 12, 14, 21, 23, 28, 31),

managing others' emotions (items 1, 4, 11, 13, 16, 24, 26, 30) and utilization of emotions (items 6, 7, 8, 17, 20, 27). 5,19,41 The initial internal consistency is reported as α = .90 based on the development sample of 346 participants. 41 5,19 Internal consistency ranges from α = .76 to α = .95across 27 studies resulting in a mean of α =.87. 41 Reliability of this tool has been reported as α =.93 with test-retest reliability (r=.78). Research also shows a strong relationship between EI scores on the SREIT and EI scores on the EQ-I (r = .43) and a weak relationship with the MSCEIT (r = .18). 19,41

Gender and Emotional Intelligence

Gender is a debated component of EI. Studies assessing the component of gender have conflicting conclusions. In one study performed on senior medical students in Australia men scored higher on the MSCEIT than women. However, studies have also concluded that women tend to score higher on the MSCEIT. He dichotomous relationship between scores in males vs. females has also been observed when using the SREIT tool. On the other hand, no significant differences have been observed between genders when using the Bar-On EQ-I. When the gender aspect is specifically targeted in the overall data, women have been observed to score higher on questions related to managing job related stress. Although variation is observed when analyzing the effect of gender on EI, this is an interesting component to consider when analyzing the results of this study.

Maturity and Experience Related to Emotional Intelligence

As an individual matures according to the three level model of EI, their EI will also grow as they learn to identify and deal with emotions as well as incorporate those abilities into action. Adults perform at a higher ability level than adolescents in regard to EI.⁶ However, in certain situations research has indicates a decline in EI over time. When comparing scores from the first

year orientation of medical students and the scores they received after the completion of their third year of clinical training a small but significant decline in scores was observed in regard to attention to feelings, mood repair and empathy. The decline in scores could be due to a mental hardiness aspect that students adopt when they become focused on their education, as well as more clinically adept at handling personal relationships with patients. Hardiness could also explain why male empathy scores increase between the first and second years of medical training, while female scores tend to decrease.

Emotional Intelligence and Professional Performance

Workplace Stress

Health professionals incur a significant amount of stress experienced due dealing with the physical and emotional problems of ill and injured patients, running effective teams, dealing with management structures, and the conflicting time demands at all hours of the day. High EI has been associated with low levels of stress as well as significantly lower depression symptom levels and greater job control. The development of EI skills such as empathy and impulse control may aid individuals in effectively managing their emotions.

Patient-Centered Care

Patient-centered care includes the idea that the professional must understand the patients' need for information, view the patient as an individual and ultimately promote an effective patient-professional relationship.²⁹ A limited relationship has been observed between physicians' EI scores and patient satisfaction with the majority of emphasis from patient responses on physician "happiness".⁴⁶

Professional Characteristics of Health Care Professionals

Emergency Medical Technicians (EMT)

According to the United States Department of Labor, statistics there are approximately 221,760 EMT's and paramedics employed in the United States. Of these individuals the average length of employment is reported to be 11 years, ranging from 0-23 years in length.⁴⁷ As years of employment increase EMTs are more likely to describe work related stress and psychological distress.⁴⁷ In order to combat this increasing amount of stress the initiation of group support and positive behavior from the supervisor can have a positive effect on stress.⁴⁷

Athletic Trainers

Approximately 16,290 athletic trainers work in the United States as of spring 2012. In order to become a certified athletic trainer an individual must complete a professional practice program of study at an institution accredited by the commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education (CAATE) as well as pass an examination administered by the Board of Certification (BOC).⁴⁸ Additional credentials such as licensure or registration are required depending on the state in which an athletic trainer practices. While these requirements are intended to allow only proficient athletic trainers to practice, they do not assess or evaluate affective and personal qualifications that affect the athletic trainers' ability to perform job duties. Examining what characteristics athletes identify as important in their athletic trainer research suggests five key constructs: care, communication, commitment, integrity, and knowledge.⁴⁸ A majority of these characteristics fall into categories outlined as EI. Therefore, from a superficial perspective it can be concluded that higher EI will result in greater athlete satisfaction.

Athletic trainers work in a wide variety of settings including high schools, colleges and universities, professional sports, clinics, hospitals, the military or law enforcement, industrial or

corporate and many others. Each of these settings has a unique set of challenges. The NATA has established five domains under which athletic trainers practice. These domains include injury/illness prevention and wellness protection, clinical evaluation and diagnosis, immediate and emergency care, treatment and rehabilitation, and organizational and professional health and well-being. In the high school setting responsibilities include providing athletic training services, covering all home athletic contests and away football games, acting as a liaison between all parties necessary for the care of the athlete, maintaining proper documentation, providing coaches with a list of athletes who are medically eligible and assisting the athletic director as requested. 49 Athletic trainers working in a collegiate setting where faculty responsibilities are included in the job description often have to juggle teaching, research, athletic training services, and administration responsibilities. Athletic trainers without these extra responsibilities also end up at the disposal of the head coach, cover practices, games, and travel as well as prevention, rehabilitation and administrative duties. A clinical or hospital setting offers more structured hours where the majority of responsibilities include outpatient-ambulatory-rehabilitation, the ordering of further medical tests, brace fitting, and history taking. 50 Athletic trainers cannot enlist directly into the military; however, they can work as a civilian with a government contract. Specific opportunities include working with Army morale, welfare and recreation sports as well as during training at base camps. The industrial and corporate settings are unique in that the goals of an athletic trainer include minimizing workers compensation costs, adjusting work to fit the capability of the worker, and promoting total body fitness.⁵¹

EI is essential for an athletic trainer whose daily interactions with athletes or patients and emergency management skills often create a high stress environment. The two major demands of the athletic training profession are hours, travel, expectations, and the influences of coaches.⁵²

These demands often create work-family conflict. Athletic trainers experience the same level of work-family conflict regardless of demographic factors such as gender or presence of children.⁵³ However, athletic trainers have a lower burn out rate than other health care providers.⁵⁴ A component of this low burn out rate could be a potentially high level of EI across the population of athletic trainers. If a high level of EI exists compared to other population norms, this could explain in part the low burn out rate in athletic trainers compared to other healthcare providers.

Athletic trainers face the challenge of excessive work hours (>50 hours) in a traditional athletic setting.⁵⁵ A competitive sports environment brings a unique dynamic due to the pressure from coaches to return athletes to play as quickly as possible as well as keep athletes performing at a high level.^{56,57} As such, athletic trainers incur significant internal and external stress in the workplace.

Conclusion

The expanse of EI literature in understanding healthcare providers explains that high EI has been associated with low levels of stress as well as significantly lower depression symptom levels and greater job control. 9,11,45 However, athletic trainers fall into the category of health care professionals that are unique in their job duties and work environment. However, further research pertaining to athletic trainers' EI may provide insight into the individuals who choose to pursue the career of athletic training.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

Study Design

We employed a descriptive research design to observe the emotional intelligence (EI) of certified athletic trainers through the utilization of the Self-Report EI Test (SREIT).

Participants

After obtaining approval from the Indiana State University Institutional Review Board, we distributed 1,000 e-mails through the National Athletic Trainers' Association (NATA) membership directory, which is accessible upon request from the NATA, aiming for a 40-60% response rate. All participants are members in good standing of the NATA, over the age of 18, and college graduates (hold the certification credential). Male and female participants working in a variety of settings were included.

Instrument

Self-Report EI Test (SREIT)

The SREIT is the shortest of the tools used to measure EI at 33 questions. The SREIT is based on Schutte's.^{5,41} understanding of Salovey and Mayer's model of EI and assesses trait EI Responses were given on a five point likert scale including strongly disagree, somewhat disagree, neither agree nor disagree, somewhat agree and strongly agree.⁴¹ The total scale score is calculated by reverse coding items 5, 28 and 33 and then calculating a score between 33 to 165.⁴¹ (See Appendix B for complete list of included questions) Test results were divided into

four categories: perception of emotion (items 5, 9, 15, 18, 19, 22, 25, 29, 32, 33), managing individuals own emotions (items 2, 3, 10, 12, 14, 21, 23, 28, 31), managing others' emotions (items 1, 4, 11, 13, 16, 24, 26, 30) and utilization of emotions (items 6, 7, 8, 17, 20, 27). The initial internal consistency is reported as α = .90 based on the development sample of 346 a mean of α =.87. Reliability of this tool has been reported as α =.93 with test-retest reliability (r=.78). Research also shows a strong relationship between EI scores on the SREIT and EI scores on the EQ-I (r = .43) and a weak relationship with the MSCEIT (r = .18).

Procedures

We emailed potential participants a request to participate in our study with an included link to the instrument. On October 22, 2012, we emailed the participation request. When participants clicked on the link to participate in the EI survey, they implied their consent.

Data Analysis

We retrieved the raw scores and EI scores from Qualtrics, exported the data to SPSS 18.0 and analyzed the results. Because we had a heterogeneous sample, we analyzed the results using inferential statistics to compare EI between genders (t-test), employment settings (one-way ANOVA), and age categories (one-way ANOVA).

CHAPTER 4

MANUSCRIPT

Emotional Intelligence in Certified Athletic Trainers

Introduction

Emotional intelligence (EI) is a derivative of social intelligence which incorporates an individual's ability to control their emotions, as well as identify the emotions of others.² Five core areas are studied under the umbrella of EI: self-awareness, self-regulation, self-motivation, empathy, and social skills.

Two viewpoints exist regarding EI, the ability approach and the trait approach. Ability EI is intelligence based on emotional information. ¹⁰ Conversely, trait EI views EI as part of an individual's personality and something that cannot be changed. ¹⁰ Ability and trait EI are often referred to under the umbrella term EI. ¹¹

Emergency medical care often requires that medical providers render services in stressful situations. 47,58,59 The ability to manage emotional responses to stressful situations is critical to appropriate and effective health care. Athletic trainers(ATs) in particular facilitate stressful medical situations, such as rehabilitation and preventing injuries in conjunction with emergency preparation and emergency situation management. El is vital in patient care because practitioner control of self-emotions and the emotions of others are critical for effective job performance and positive patient outcomes. Patients may become irrational, parents become intrusive, coaches want to know the extent of the injury immediately and the practitioner must interpret these

emotions and adjust responses accordingly. As of yet, the EI of ATs has not been published, but may have a critical impact on a practitioner's ability to effectively and safely manage emergencies and treat patients. The purpose of this study was to investigate emotional intelligence in ATs to determine if a variance exists between gender, employment setting, and age category.

Methods

Study Design

We employed a descriptive research design to observe the EI of certified ATs through the utilization of the Self-Report EI Test (SREIT).

Participants

We obtained approval from the Indiana State University Institutional Review Board and distributed 1,000 e-mails through the National Athletic Trainers' Association (NATA) membership directory, which is accessible upon request from the NATA. All participants were members in good standing of the NATA, over the age of 18, college graduates, and certified ATs. Male and female participants working in a variety of employment settings as classified by the NATA membership were included.

Instrument

When the Self-Report EI Test (SREIT) was initially created it had an internal consistency reported as α =.90 based on the development sample of 346 participants. The internal consistency ranges from α =.76 to α =.95 across 27 studies resulting in a mean of α =.87. Reliability of this tool has been reported as α =.93 with test-retest reliability r=.78. When looking at the instruments used to measure EI one of the most reliable and the shortest tool is the SREIT at 33 questions. Responses are provided on a five point likert scale including 1=

strongly disagree, 2= somewhat disagree, 3= neither agree nor disagree, 4= somewhat agree and 5= strongly agree. At total scale score is calculated based on Likert responses by reverse coding items 5, 28 and 33 and then calculating a score between 33 to 165 with a higher score indicating higher levels of emotional intelligence. Test results are divided into four categories: perception of emotion (items 5, 9, 15, 18, 19, 22, 25, 29, 32, 33), managing individuals own emotions (items 2, 3, 10, 12, 14, 21, 23, 28, 31), managing others' emotions (items 1, 4, 11, 13, 16, 24, 26, 30) and utilization of emotions (items 6, 7, 8, 17, 20, 27). States of the somewhat agree and 5= strongly agree.

Procedures

We emailed ATs with the request to participate that included a link to the instrument. The email request was emailed in October, which we perceived as an ideal time to collect data, since it is after summer vacations and before holidays therefore potentially maximizing the number of individuals available to take the survey. Participants who clicked on the link to participate in the EI questionnaire implied their consent. The survey was confidential, as we did not collect any identifiable information including IP addresses, emails or place of employment, through the survey link. We analyzed the results using inferential statistics to compare EI between genders (t-test) and job settings (one-way ANOVA). The other component of our survey was an openended question regarding the participants' knowledge of EI.

Results

The participants in our study varied in gender, employment setting, age, and level of education, which suggest we identified a diverse population of respondents (see Table 1). Of the 73 ATs who participated in the study there were 33 males (45.2%) and 40 females (54.8%). When looking at the age of our participants we divided them into four categories 21-30 years of age (n=35), 31-40 years of age (n=17), 41-50 years of age (n=12) and 51-60 (n=9). The

educational level of our participants included BS/BA (n=14), master's (n=57), and doctoral degrees (n=2). The final demographic we observed was employment setting, college/university clinical setting (n=18), college/university faculty setting (n=4), college/university split clinical and faculty setting (n=5), secondary school (n=21), clinical with outreach responsibilities (n=11), clinical without outreach responsibilities (n=3), and other (n=11).

We did not identify any significant differences (t_{71} =-0.698, p=0.487) between males (126.6±12.9) and females (128.9±14.0) on the SREIT total score (127.9±13.4). Additionally, we did not observe significant differences (p=0.682) between age categories: 21-20 years of age (129.4±12.8), 31-40 years of age (125.5±13.7), 41-50 years of age (125.3±15.7), and 51-60 years of age (129.44±13.4). We did not identify any significant differences (p=0.914) between ATs in the college/university (128.7±15.0), clinic (127.2±10.4), secondary school (126.4 ± 13.8) or various other settings (129.5±13.7). Lastly, we did not identify any statistical differences among our comparison groups on the subscales: perception of emotion (38.3±5.9), managing individuals own emotions (36.3±4.2), managing others' emotions (30.8±4.0) and utilization of emotions (22.6±2.8).

Several studies have used the SREIT to measure EI in various populations (university students, parents, teaching interns, employees, managers, etc.). The ATs in our investigation performed slightly higher than the average scores in 33 other investigations (mean=126.1, range=117.5-142.5)^{19,60-70} and on-par with studies (n=8) assessing full-time adult employees or managers (mean=127.8, range=121.1-142.5).^{15,41,65,71-75} Both the males and females in this study performed higher than those noted in the literature (7 studies: males=120.7, females=126.2).^{5,41,62,63,67,68,76,77}

As a part of this study, we requested the participants define EI. Sixty-one percent (n=58) provided a range of definitions. Common themes throughout these definitions include the integration of emotion in response to the surrounding situation, the ability to control emotions and make correct decisions under stressful situations, and the combination of intellectual capabilities and emotional maturity. Respondent statements included:

"The ability to perceive emotions in the self and others, facilitate thoughts from these perceptions, understand emotion and manage emotion in self and others."

"The state of mind on how you react to a situation and how well you handle it to its completion."

"Being able to think rationally and clearly in certain stressful situations by maintaining control of emotional responses."

From comprehensive definitions to three word answers, the depth of the definitions given by the respondents indicates a wide variety of EI understanding among ATs.

Discussion

EI and High Stress Occupations

Higher EI and positive traits including optimism, prosocial behavior, impulse control, parental warmth, and positive peer and family relations, ^{6,15} may be more common in service professionals like healthcare. In contrast lower EI has been related to self-destructive behaviors including deviant behavior and cigarette smoking. ¹⁹ These behaviors tend to be less common in the health fields, as they often require advanced training and education.

EI may be used to describe two distinct theories: ability and trait EI. Ability EI is intelligence based on emotional information. ¹⁰ Conversely, trait EI views EI as part of an individual's personality and something that cannot be changed. ¹⁰ A proposed three-level model

of EI attempts to unify the trait and ability models by attempting to capture differences within people. ¹² The three categories include knowledge of the complexity of emotion and beliefs concerning emotions, the ability to apply that knowledge to problem solving situations, and the disposition or propensity to put the knowledge and ability into practice. ¹² This model allows for the consolidation of both trait and ability EI by recognizing the EI component that we are born with along with the aptitude an individual has to increase their EI. There is an aspect of trait EI that is ingrained into our personality but it is up to the individual to utilize that skill. The decision the individual must make is based on disposition to use or not to use EI. One could theorize that an assessment of self-selection and advancement in healthcare based on practitioner EI may assist with future recruitment, retention and overall patient care. However, a determination of EI within and among health care professions must occur.

When looking at allied health professionals in general, it has been concluded that participants with higher EI respond better to trauma and have decreased post-traumatic stress symptoms. Researchers have used this as evidence for using EI to select individuals for stressful jobs such as those in armed forces or emergency services. A proposed use of EI from this perspective is to use EI to identify at risk individuals who are required to deal with traumatic situations and taking steps to help these individuals deal with the additional stress rather than eliminating them from those jobs.

Some available literature among medical students provides a unique glimpse into EI observed over time. The ability to act, talk, listen, or simply tolerate a patient's distress, it is viewed as an important developmental step related to EI in medical training. ⁴³ One of the potentially confounding factors in regard to trait EI is that research has shown as medical students progress through school and as many as 75% become more cynical towards academic

life and the medical profession leading to a decline in empathy.⁷⁸ As such, it appears that potential recruitment or self-selection into these high stress professions may change EI over time suggesting that ability EI is a malleable characteristic.

EI and Improved Patient Outcomes

EI regarding doctor-patient relationships, patient satisfaction and patient outcomes is wanting, but preliminary findings suggest higher EI results in more benefits. One study concluded that patients are more trusting of physicians with high EI.⁷⁹ Individuals with higher EI have been shown to have better communication skills, which has been linked with fewer malpractice lawsuits.⁸⁰ Patient satisfaction has been correlated with the medical professional's ability to recognize and respond to both verbal and nonverbal communication and emotional information.^{81,82} These findings, although limited, suggest that higher EI can result in better patient outcomes including less medical errors and more positive patient experiences.

EI is important throughout the hierarchy of medical care. Effectiveness in nursing leadership has been clearly associated with EI.⁸³ There is also a significant correlation in nurses between EI and clinical performance.⁸³ Nurses are required to draw on skills related to EI to meet the needs of patients as well as work and negotiate with multidisciplinary teams.⁸⁴ One study looked at nursing leadership related to patient outcomes. The researchers identified that high-resonant leadership styles or high EI leaders demonstrated 26% lower odds of mortality when compared to lower EI leaders.⁸⁵

EI in ATs

The subcategory scores from the ATs in our study can be divided into three categories.

The first category is the managing own emotions scale. The average response for questions in this subcategory was 4.03 out of 5 which means that the majority of ATs somewhat agreed with

the statements regarding their ability to manage their own emotions. Social skills can be used to categorize the middle category of EI scores, which includes perception of emotion and managing others' emotions. The subcategory responses were 3.84 out of 5 on average which indicates that the ATs fell closer to the somewhat agree response compared to neither agree nor disagree. The final subcategory was the utilization of emotions, where ATs scored on average 3.77 out of 5 which falls closer to neither agree nor disagree on the Likert scale.

ATs scored highest on the managing their own emotions scale, which could indicate that they excel in controlling their own emotions. ^{2,6,15,45} Self-awareness and self-regulation enables the individual to adjust to new circumstances. 32-34 Self-awareness can be described as understanding one's own emotions, strengths, weaknesses, needs and drives.²¹ Examples of applying self-awareness in a healthcare setting include, decision making when budgets must be cut, knowing your values do not line up with the health care system, and being aware that your job affects your family relations.²¹ From a nursing perspective, self-awareness is vital in retention. In a study, looking at EI subcategories in nursing one advanced practice nurse states that, "The knowledge that I have gained from nursing is that it is a blend... Although the days are long and hard, although the world of medicine and nursing seems to be spiraling downward out of control, I will not give up on nursing."86 This description could easily be used to describe AT. Self-regulation is described as the tendency for reflection, adaptability, and refraining from impulsive decisions.²¹ Within healthcare, self-regulation is knowing when an argument is not productive, actively pursuing issues rather than ignoring them, and accepting responsibility.²¹ As a result we can theorize that in AT, a high EI on the self-regulation subscale may illustrate an essential characteristic of AT's to cope with stressful situations, control emotions to benefit patient outcomes, and recognize their strengths, limitations and self-worth.

The social skills category (perception of emotion and managing others' emotions subscales) falls just below the managing own emotions scale. Social skills can be described as having the ability to move people in the direction of your plan. The application of social skills within healthcare can be seen in successful negotiation of contracts, employee satisfaction with performance evaluations, and good listening skills when communicating. A high EI can affect inter-personal relationships in the workplace by creating a harmonious working environment. The ability to understand how others express emotions are essential in sports and the health care setting, because it is beneficial when dealing with injured athletes and helping them return to play.

The lowest scores among ATs occurred on the utilization of emotions scale. A component of this subscale includes empathy or considering other's feelings before acting. ²¹ Examples of this in healthcare include, thinking of the family's perspective when dealing with controversial or sensitive subjects, compassion when employees have personal problems potentially affecting their job, and patient centered care. ²¹ Medical students are taught clinical judgment can be clouded by excessive empathy for patients but that controlling their own emotions and paying attention to the patients emotions can be accomplished through moderate concern. ⁸⁸ While the ATs in our study scored moderately on this subscale, there is a potential that this decreased score is due to an AT's "disregard" for emotions as described in the education of medical students when managing emergent and stressful situations and athletes who are in a highly emotional state.

The diverse population of respondents represents a wide variety of athletic trainers concerning age and setting (see Table 1). Due to this distribution, we are able to generalize the results we received from our study to the AT workforce. The results of our comparisons between

sub-categories among our participants did not identify any significant differences between EI scores. The overall assessment that ATs have high EI scores can therefore be amalgamated in a general disposition and compared across health care disciplines.

The lack of difference in EI scores between gender, setting and age may imply that the type of individuals who pursue or complete education in AT have a higher level of EI than the average adult and on-par with studies involving managers.

Conclusion

Overall, ATs demonstrate similar levels of EI, with no significant differences among genders, ages, or employment settings. The general high EI score among ATs may indicate that individuals who graduate as ATs have similar characteristics. ATs score similarly to other medical professionals in regard to EI which could indicate a better ability to cope with stressful situations and higher levels of patient satisfaction. This high level of EI is essential for ATs to function and provide the best patient care possible. ATs with lower levels of EI are at a higher risk for post-traumatic stress, mistrust in the clinician-patient relationship, and decreased patient satisfaction. This could negatively affect patient outcomes. Trust and positive patient outcomes have been correlated with high EI in doctors and nurses when considering this it is natural to assume that high EI would also produce similar results in AT. Rowledge of this characteristic can advance future evaluation of patient outcomes as well as potential assessment of characteristics of pre-AT students, retention and job satisfaction.

Table 1. Demographics

Characteristics	Frequency	Percentage
Gender		
Male	33	45.2
Female	40	54.8
Age (yrs)		
21-30	35	47.9
31-40	17	23.3
41-50	12	16.4
51-60	9	12.3
Education Level		
BS/BA degree	14	19.2
Master's degree	57	78.1
Doctoral degree	2	2.7
Athletic Training setting		
College/University (Clinical)	18	24.7
College/University (Faculty)	4	5.5
College/University (Split clinical/faculty)	5	6.8
Secondary School	21	28.8
Clinical with outreach responsibilities	11	15.1
Clinical without outreach responsibilities	3	4.1
Other	11	15.1

Table 2. EI Scores

EI Scale	Mean
Perception of emotion	38.25 ± 5.885
Managing individuals own emotions	36.29 ± 4.152
Managing others' emotions	30.75 ± 3.954
Utilization of emotions	22.56 ± 2.809
Global score	127.85 ± 13.437

Note: *n*= 73

REFERENCES

- 1. Certification Bo. The 2009 Athletic trainer role delineation study. 2010.
- **2.** Mayer PSaJD. Emotional intelligence. *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*. 1990;9(3):185-211.
- **3.** Conte JM. A review and critique of emotional intelligence measures. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. 2005;26(4):433-440.
- 4. Austin EJ, Evans P, Magnus B, O'Hanlon K. A preliminary study of empathy, emotional intelligence and examination performance in MBChB students. Vol 41: Wiley-Blackwell; 2007:684-689.
- **5.** Schutte NS, Malouff JM, Hall LE, et al. Development and validation of a measure of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 1998;25(2):167-177.
- **6.** Mayer JD, Caruso DR, Salovey P. Emotional intelligence meets traditional standards for an intelligence. *Intelligence*. 1999;27(4):267-298.
- 7. Carr SE. Emotional intelligence in medical students: does it correlate with selection measures? *Medical Education*. 2009;43(11):1069-1077.
- **8.** Arora S, Ashrafian H, Davis R, Athanasiou T, Darzi A, Sevdalis N. Emotional intelligence in medicine: a systematic review through the context of the ACGME competencies. *Med Educ.* Aug 2010;44(8):749-764.
- **9.** Hunt N, Evans D. Predicting traumatic stress using emotional intelligence. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*. 2004;42(7):791-798.
- **10.** Mayer JD, Salovey P, Caruso DR. Emotional intelligence: theory, findings, and implications. *Psychological Inquiry*. 2004;15(3):197-215.
- 11. Petrides KV, Furnham A. The role of trait emotional intelligence in a gender-specific model of organizational variables. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*. 2006;36(2):552-569.
- **12.** Mikolajczak M. Going beyond the ability-trait debate: the three-level model of emotional intelligence. *Journal of Applied Pschology*. Vol 52010.
- **13.** Parker JDA, Creque Sr RE, Barnhart DL, et al. Academic achievement in high school: does emotional intelligence matter? *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2004;37(7):1321-1330.
- **14.** Parker JDA, Summerfeldt LJ, Hogan MJ, Majeski SA. Emotional intelligence and academic success: examining the transition from high school to university. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2004;36(1):163-172.
- **15.** Schutte NS, Malouff JM, Bobik C, et al. Emotional intelligence and interpersonal relations. *The Journal of Social Psychology*. 2001/08/01 2001;141(4):523-536.
- **16.** Ciarrochi JV, Chan AYC, Caputi P. A critical evaluation of the emotional intelligence construct. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2000;28(3):539-561.

- 17. Ciarrochi J, Deane FP, Anderson S. Emotional intelligence moderates the relationship between stress and mental health. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2002;32(2):197-209.
- 18. Lopes PN, Brackett MA, Nezlek JB, Schutz A, Sellin I, Salovey P. Emotional intelligence and social interaction. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*. Aug 2004;30(8):1018-1034.
- **19.** Brackett MA, Mayer JD. Convergent, discriminant, and incremental validity of competing measures of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*. September 1, 2003 2003;29(9):1147-1158.
- **20.** Petrides KV, Frederickson N, Furnham A. The role of trait emotional intelligence in academic performance and deviant behavior at school. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2004;36(2):277-293.
- **21.** Freshman B, Rubino L. Emotional intelligence: a core competency for health care administrators. *The Health Care Manager*. 2002;20(4):1-9.
- **22.** Cadman C, Brewer J. Emotional intelligence: a vital prerequisite for recruitment in nursing. *Journal of Nursing Management*. Nov 2001;9(6):321-324.
- **23.** Elam CL. Use of "Emotional Intelligence" as one measure of medical school applicants' noncognitive characteristics. *Academic Medicine*. 2000;75(5):445-446.
- **24.** Epstein RM. Defining and assessing professional competence. *Jornal of the American Medical Association*. 2002;287(2):226-235.
- 25. Schwartz RW The power of servant leadership to transform health care organizations for the 21st-century economy. *Archives of Surgery*. 2002;137(12):1419-1427.
- **26.** Lewis N, Rees C, Hudson N. Helping medical students identify their emotional intelligence. *Medical Education*. 2004;38(5):563-563.
- **27.** Herbert R, Edgar L. Emotional intelligence: a primal dimension of nursing leadership? *Nursing leadership (Toronto, Ont.).* Nov 2004;17(4):56-63.
- **28.** Bellack JP. Emotional intelligence: a missing ingredient? *The Journal of NursingEeducation*. Jan 1999;38(1):3-4.
- **29.** Birks YF, Watt IS. Emotional intelligence and patient-centred care. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*. Aug 2007;100(8):368-374.
- **30.** Petrides KV, Furnham A. Trait emotional intelligence: behavioural validation in two studies of emotion recognition and reactivity to mood induction. *European Journal of Personality*. 2003;17(1):39-57.
- 31. Goleman D. Issues in paradigm building. *The emotionally intelligent workplace: How to select for, measure, and improve emotional intelligence in individuals, groups and organizations.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2001:13-26.
- **32.** Goleman D. *Working with Emotional Intelligence*. New York, New York: Bantam Dell; 1998.
- **33.** Ramdass D, Zimmerman BJ. Developing self-regulation skills: the important role of homework. *Journal of Advanced Academics*. 2011;22(2):194-218.
- **34.** Zimmerman BJ. Investigating self-regulation and motivation: historical background, methodological developments, and future prospects. *American Educational Research Journal*. 2008;45(1):166-183.
- **35.** Cassels TG, Chan S, Chung W, Birch SAJ. The role of culture in affective empathy: cultural and bicultural differences. *Journal of Cognition & Culture*. 2010;10(3/4):309-326.

- **36.** Schroeder DA, Dovidio JF, Sibicky ME, Matthews LL, Allen JL. Empathic concern and helping behavior: egoism or altruism? *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*. 1988;24(4):333-353.
- 37. Eisenberg N, Wentzel NM, Harris JD. The role of emotionality and regulation in empathy-related responding. *School Psychology Review*. 1998;27(4):506-521.
- **38.** Eisenberg N, Fabes RA, Miller PA, et al. Relation of sympathy and personal distress to prosocial behavior: a multimethod study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. Jul 1989;57(1):55-66.
- **39.** Al-Ali MM, Singh AP, Smekal V. Social anxiety in relation to social skills, aggression, and stress among male and female commercial institute students. *Education*. Winter2011 2011;132(2):351-361.
- **40.** Fragoulis I. Social skills for successful career development. *Review of European Studies*. 2011;3(1):85-93.
- **41.** Schutte NS, Malouff JM, Bhullar N. The assessing emotions scale assessing emotional intelligence. In: Parker JDA, Saklofske DH, Stough C, eds: Springer US; 2009:119-134.
- **42.** Brackett MA, Mayer JD, Warner RM. Emotional intelligence and its relation to everyday behaviour. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2004;36(6):1387-1402.
- **43.** Stratton TD, Saunders JA, Elam CL. Changes in medical students' emotional intelligence: an exploratory study. *Teaching & Learning in Medicine*. 2008;20(3):279-284.
- **44.** Firth-Cozens J, Payne R. *Stress in health professionals: psychological and organisational causes and interventions.* Wiley; 1999.
- **45.** Ogińska-Bulik N. Emotional intelligence in the workplace: exploring its effects on occupational stress and health outcomes in human service workers. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine & Environmental Health (Instytut Medycyny Pracy im. Jerzego Nofera)*. 2005;18(2):167-175.
- **46.** Wagner PJ, Moseley GC, Grant MM, Gore JR, Owens C. Physicians' emotional intelligence and patient satisfaction. *Family medicine*. Nov-Dec 2002;34(10):750-754.
- **47.** Revicki DA, Gershon RRM. Work-related stress and psychological distress in emergency medical technicians. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology.* 1996;1(4):391-396.
- **48.** Raab S, Wolfe BD, Gould TE, Piland SG. Characterizations of a quality certified athletic trainer. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2011;46(6):672-679.
- **49.** Association NATA. High school athletic trainer full time. 2005. Accessed 2/24, 2012.
- **50.** Schilling J, Combs, Martha. Educational preparation for the clinical job setting: clinical athletic trainers' perspectives. *Athletic Training Education Journal*. 2011;6(1):15-26.
- **51.** Zimmerman GR. Industrial medicine and athletic training: cost-effectiveness in the non-traditional setting. *Journal of Athletic Training*. Summer 1993;28(2):131-136.
- **52.** Mazerolle SM, Pitney WA, Casa DJ, Pagnotta KD. Assessing strategies to manage work and life balance of athletic trainers working in the national collegiate athletic association division I setting. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2011;46(2):194-205.
- **53.** Pitney WA, Mazerolle SM, Pagnotta KD. Work-family conflict among athletic trainers in the secondary school setting. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2011;46(2):185-193.
- **54.** Giacobbi Jr PR. Low burnout and high engagement levels in athletic trainers: results of a nationwide random sample. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2009;44(4):370-377.

- **55.** Kahanov L, Loebsack AR, Masucci MA, Roberts J. Perspectives on parenthood and working of female athletic trainers in the secondary school and collegiate settings. *Journal of Athletic Training*. Sep-Oct 2010;45(5):459-466.
- **56.** Coatsworth JD, Conroy DE. The effects of autonomy-supportive coaching, need satisfaction, and self-perceptions on initiative and identity in youth swimmers. *Developmental Psychology*. 2009;45(2):320-328.
- 57. Amorose AJ, Horn TS. Intrinsic motivation: relationships with collegiate athlete's gender, scholarship status. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*. 2000;22(1):63.
- **58.** Revicki DA, Whitley TW, Gallery ME. Organizational characteristics, perceived work stress, and depression in emergency medicine residents. *Hospital Topics*. 1997/01/01 1997;75(1):30-36.
- **59.** Revicki DA, Gallery ME, Whitley TW, Allison EJ. Impact of work environment characteristics on work-related stress and depression in emergency medicine residents: a longitudinal study. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*. 1993;3(4):273-284.
- **60.** Bastian VA, Burns NR, Nettelbeck T. Emotional intelligence predicts life skills, but not as well as personality and cognitive abilities. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2005;39(6):1135-1145.
- 61. Brown RF, Schutte NS. Direct and indirect relationships between emotional intelligence and subjective fatigue in university students. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*. 2006;60(6):585-593.
- **62.** Charbonneau D, Nicol AAM. Emotional intelligence and prosocial behaviors in adolescents. *Psychological Reports*. 2002/04/01 2002;90(2):361-370.
- **63.** Ciarrochi J, Chan AYC, Bajgar J. Measuring emotional intelligence in adolescents. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2001;31(7):1105-1119.
- **64.** DEPAPE, #160, R. A-M, et al. *Self-talk and emotional intelligence in university students*. Vol 38. Ottawa, ON, CANADA: Canadian Psychological Association; 2006.
- **65.** Guastello D, Guastello S. Androgyny, Gender role behavior, and emotional intelligence among college students and their parents. *Sex Roles*. 2003/12/01 2003;49(11-12):663-673.
- 66. Liau AK, Liau AWL, Teoh GBS, Liau MTL. The Case for Emotional Literacy: The influence of emotional intelligence on problem behaviours in Malaysian secondary school students. *Journal of Moral Education*. 2003/03/01 2003;32(1):51-66.
- **67.** Pau AK, Croucher R. Emotional intelligence and perceived stress in dental undergraduates. *Journal of Dental Education*. Sep 2003;67(9):1023-1028.
- **68.** Saklofske DH, Austin EJ, Rohr BA, Andrews JJ. Personality, emotional intelligence and exercise. *Journal of Health Psychology*. Nov 2007;12(6):937-948.
- **69.** Schutte N, Malouff J. Incorporating emotional skills content in a college transition course enhances student retention. *Journal of The First-Year Experience & Students in Transition*. 2002;14(1):7-21.
- **70.** Scott G, Ciarrochi J, Deane FP. Disadvantages of being an individualist in an individualistic culture: Idiocentrism, emotional competence, stress, and mental health. *Australian Psychologist.* 2004/05/01 2004;39(2):143-154.
- 71. Carmeli A. The relationship between emotional intelligence and work attitudes, behavior and outcomes: An examination among senior managers. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*. 2003;18(8):788-813.

- **72.** Carmeli A, Josman ZE. The relationship among emotional intelligence, task performance, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *Human Performance*. 2006/10/01 2006;19(4):403-419.
- 73. Oginska-Bulik N. Emotional intelligence in the workplace: exploring its effects on occupational stress and health outcomes in human service workers. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health*. 2005;18(2):167-175.
- **74.** Schutte NS, Malouff JM, Simunek M, McKenley J, Hollander S. Characteristic emotional intelligence and emotional well-being. *Cognition & Emotion*. 2002/11/01 2002;16(6):769-785.
- **75.** Totterdell P, Holman D. Emotion regulation in customer service roles: testing a model of emotional labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*. 2003;8(1):55-73.
- **76.** Saklofske DH, Austin EJ, Minski PS. Factor structure and validity of a trait emotional intelligence measure. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 2003;34(4):707-721.
- 77. Van Rooy DL, Viswesvaran C, Pluta P. An evaluation of construct validity: what is this thing called emotional intelligence? *Human Performance*. 2005/10/01 2005;18(4):445-462.
- **78.** Hojat M, Mangione S, Nasca TJ, et al. An empirical study of decline in empathy in medical school. *Medical Education*. 2004;38(9):934-941.
- **79.** Hui-Ching W, Hung-Chi C, Han-Jung C, Kang L, Shin-Yuan H. Doctors' emotional intelligence and the patient–doctor relationship. *Medical Education*. 2008;42(7):703-711.
- **80.** Levinson W, Roter D, Mullooly JP, Dull VT, Frankel RM, Pope WDB. Physician-patient communication: the relationship with malpractice claims among primary care physicians and surgeons. *Survey of Anesthesiology*. 1997;41(6):376.
- **81.** Blue AV, Chessman AW, Gilbert GE, Mainous AG, 3rd. Responding to patients' emotions: important for standardized patient satisfaction. *Family Medicine*. May 2000;32(5):326-330.
- **82.** Dube L, Belanger MC, Trudeau E. The role of emotions in health care satisfaction. Positive feelings have the expected effect, but negative ones do not always result in dissatisfaction. *Journal of Health care Marketing*. Summer 1996;16(2):45-51.
- **83.** Codier E, Kooker BM, Shoultz J. Measuring the emotional intelligence of clinical staff nurses: an approach for improving the clinical care environment. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*. 2008;32(1):8-14 10.1097/1001.NAQ.0000305942.0000338816.0000305943b.
- **84.** McQueen ACH. Emotional intelligence in nursing work. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 2004;47(1):101-108.
- **85.** Cummings GG, Midodzi WK, Wong CA, Estabrooks CA. The contribution of hospital nursing leadership styles to 30-day patient mortality. *Nursing Research*. 2010;59(5):331-339.
- **86.** Kooker BM, Shoultz J, Codier EE. Identifying emotional intelligence in professional nursing practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*. 2007;23(1):30-36.
- **87.** Meyer BB, Fletcher TB, Parker SJ. Enhancing emotional intelligence in the health care environment: an exploratory study. *The Health Care Manager*. 2004;23(3):225-234.
- 88. Smith Iii ACKS. Managing emotions in medical school: students' contacts with the living and the dead. *Social Psychology Quarterly*. 1989;52(1):56.

APPENDIX A: STUDY PARAMETERS

Operational Definitions

AT—Certified Athletic Trainer

NATA—National Athletic Training Association

EI—Emotional Intelligence, the ability to perceive, utilize, understand and manage emotions in self and others.^{2,6}

Ability EI—"cognitive-emotional ability" measured via maximum-performance tests¹¹

Trait EI—"emotional self-efficacy" measured via self-report questionnaires¹¹

Assumptions

In regard to subject selection, the assumption is that an acquired random sample of ATC names from the NATA membership will result in a normal distribution of potential participants.

We also assume that participants will answer honestly and in a timely manner.

Delimitations

The delimitations for this study include that participants must be certified athletic trainers and members of the NATA.

Limitations

The NATA provides a random sample of participants, but those that self-select into participating will likely skew the random representation of the NATA membership. We will not be able to control for randomness for job setting and level of education, which may affect the analysis.

We hope for a 40-60% response rate among the 1,000 athletic trainers sampled; however, this represents a small portion of the national membership at large.

At the conclusion of our study, the sample size was 73 respondents. This is a limitation to our study because we do not have a number that is representative of the entire population even though our participants spanned all age groups, athletic training settings, and gender. Our participants also self-selected their participation therefore there is a possibility that those who chose to participate are those more interested in EI compared to the general population of athletic trainers.

APPENDIX B: THE ASSESSING EMOTIONS SCALE

The Assessing Emotions Scale⁴¹

Directions: Each of the following items asks you about your emotions or reactions associated with emotions. After deciding whether a statement is generally true for you, use the 5-point scale to respond to the statement. Please circle the "1" if you strongly disagree that this is like you, the "2" if you somewhat disagree that this is like you, "3" if you neither agree nor disagree that this is like you, the "4" if you somewhat agree that this is like you, and the "5" if you strongly agree that this is like you.

There are no right or wrong answers. Please give the response that best describes you.

1=strongly disagree

2= somewhat disagree

3=neither agree nor disagree

4=somewhat agree

5=strongly agree

1.	I know when to speak about my personal problems to others.	1	2	3	4	5	
2.	When I am faced with obstacles, I remember times I faced						
	similar obstacles and overcame them.	1	2	3	4	5	
3.	I expect that I will do well on most things I try.	1	2	3	4	5	
4.	Other people find it easy to confide in me.	1	2	3	4	5	

5.	I find it hard to understand the non-verbal messages of other					
	people.	1	2	3	4	5
6.	Some of the major events of my life have led me to re-evaluate					
	what is important and not important.	1	2	3	4	5
7.	When my mood changes, I see new possibilities.	1	2	3	4	5
8.	Emotions are one of the things that make my life worth living.	1	2	3	4	5
9.	I am aware of my emotions as I experience them.	1	2	3	4	5
10.	I expect good things to happen.	1	2	3	4	5
11.	I like to share my emotions with others.	1	2	3	4	5
12.	When I experience a positive emotion, I know how to make					
	it last.	1	2	3	4	5
13.	I arrange events others enjoy.	1	2	3	4	5
14.	I seek out activities that make me happy.	1	2	3	4	5
15.	I am aware of the non-verbal messages I send to others.	1	2	3	4	5
16.	I present myself in a way that makes a good impression on others.	1	2	3	4	5
17.	When I am in a positive mood, solving problems is easy for me.	1	2	3	4	5
18.	By looking at their facial expressions, I recognize the emotions					
	people are experiencing.	1	2	3	4	5
19.	I know why my emotions change.	1	2	3	4	5
20.	When I am in a positive mood, I am able to come up with					
	new ideas.	1	2	3	4	5
21.	I have control over my emotions.	1	2	3	4	5
22	Leasily recognize my emotions as Leynerience them	1	2	3	4	5

23.	I motivate myself by imagining a good outcome to tasks I take on.	1	2	3	4	5
24.	I compliment others when they have done something well.	1	2	3	4	5
25.	I am aware of the non-verbal messages other people send.	1	2	3	4	5
26.	When another person tells me about an important event in his					
	or her life, I almost feel as though I experienced this event myself.	1	2	3	4	5
27.	When I feel a change in emotions, I tend to come up with new					
	ideas.	1	2	3	4	5
28.	When I am faced with a challenge, I give up because I believe I					
	will fail.	1	2	3	4	5
29.	I know what other people are feeling just by looking at them.	1	2	3	4	5
30.	I help other people feel better when they are down.	1	2	3	4	5
31.	I use good moods to help myself keep trying in the face of					
	obstacles.	1	2	3	4	5
32.	I can tell how people are feeling by listening to the tone					
	of their voice.	1	2	3	4	5
33.	It is difficult for me to understand why people feel the					
	way they do.	1	2	3	4	5

ري

APPENDIX C: RAW DATA

Gender	Age	Age Category	Education Level	Work Setting	Work Setting (Consolidated)	Managing others' emotions	Managing own emotions	Utilization of emotions	Perception of emotion	Total El
Female	26	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	30	37	21	32	120
Female	24	21-30	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	32	38	20	42	132
Female	25	21-30	BA/BS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	32	37	24	41	134
Male	22	21-30	BA/BS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	34	35	19	39	127
Female	28	21-30	BA/BS	Secondary School	Secondary School	35	38	23	42	138
Female	25	21-30	MA/MS	College/University (Split)	College/University	30	29	19	36	114
Female	35	31-40	MA/MS	College/University (Split)	College/University	28	40	20	40	128
Female	26	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (without outreach)	Clinical	31	38	24	37	130
Female	27	21-30	MA/MS	Other	Other	34	39	21	38	132
Male	32	31-40	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	25	27	21	25	98
Male	52	51-60	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	26	39	21	35	121

College/University

29

37

22

37

125

Work Setting

(Consolidated)

Age

Category

Gender

Male

45

41-50

Age

Education

Level

Work Setting

College/University

(Split)

MA/MS

Managing

others'

Managing

own

Utilization

of

Perception

of emotion

Total

ΕI

Gender	Age	Age Category	Education Level	Work Setting	Work Setting (Consolidated)	Managing others' emotions	Managing own emotions	Utilization of emotions	Perception of emotion	Total El
Male	30	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	28	31	21	37	117
Female	28	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (without outreach)	Clinical	27	36	28	35	126
Female	37	31-40	BA/BS	Secondary School	Secondary School	34	37	22	40	133
Female	33	31-40	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	30	31	18	34	113
Female	45	41-50	MA/MS	Other	Other	26	30	18	24	98
Male	46	41-50	MA/MS	College/University (Split)	College/University	35	38	25	44	142
Male	25	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	28	36	22	36	122
Female	50	41-50	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	34	43	26	43	146
Male	44	41-50	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	23	30	19	32	104
Female	25	21-30	MA/MS	Other	Other	33	33	23	45	134
Female	25	21-30	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	33	37	24	35	129
Female	25	21-30	BA/BS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	29	43	23	29	124
Female	31	31-40	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	37	39	21	42	139
Male	53	51-60	BA/BS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	30	34	19	37	120
Male	39	31-40	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	34	34	25	36	129
Male	30	21-30	BA/BS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	32	37	22	46	137
Female	31	31-40	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	28	32	25	34	119

Gender	Age	Age Category	Education Level	Work Setting	Work Setting (Consolidated)	Managing others' emotions	Managing own emotions	Utilization of emotions	Perception of emotion	Total El
Female	30	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	34	41	25	38	138
Female	26	21-30	MA/MS	Clinical (with outreach)	Clinical	28	27	22	34	111
Male	28	21-30	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	34	43	30	49	156
Male	52	51-60	MA/MS	Other	Other	35	44	24	42	145
Male	45	41-50	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	29	32	23	40	124
Male	35	31-40	MA/MS	Other	Other	32	38	25	41	136
Female	32	31-40	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	39	43	24	49	155
Male	27	21-30	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	33	31	23	46	133
Male	39	31-40	MA/MS	College/University	College/University	29	35	25	36	125
Male	22	21-30	BA/BS	Secondary School	Secondary School	27	42	22	46	137
Female	29	21-30	MA/MS	College/University (Clinical)	College/University	37	42	23	46	148
Male	44	41-50	MA/MS	Secondary School	Secondary School	29	34	20	35	118

APPENDIX D: STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Descriptive Statistics

	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age (years)	73	22	60	35.23	10.425
Managing Others Emotions Subscale	73	20	39	30.75	3.954
Managing Self Emotions Subscale	73	27	44	36.29	4.152
Utilization of Emotion Subscale	73	17	30	22.56	2.809
Perception of Emotions Subscale	73	24	49	38.25	5.885
Self-Report El Test	73	98	156	127.85	13.437
Valid N (listwise)	73				

Gender

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	33	45.2	45.2	45.2
	Female	40	54.8	54.8	100.0
	Total	73	100.0	100.0	

Level of Education

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	BA/BS	14	19.2	19.2	19.2
	MAVMS	57	78.1	78.1	97.3
	Doctoral	2	2.7	2.7	100.0
	Total	73	100.0	100.0	

Employment Setting

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	College/University (Clinical)	18	24.7	24.7	24.7
	College/University (Faculty)	4	5.5	5.5	30.1
	College/University (Split)	5	6.8	6.8	37.0
	Secondary School	21	28.8	28.8	65.8
	Clinical (with outreach)	11	15.1	15.1	80.8
	Clinical (without outreach)	3	4.1	4.1	84.9
	Other	11	15.1	15.1	100.0
	Total	73	100.0	100.0	

Age (Categorical)

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	21-30	35	47.9	47.9	47.9
	31-40	17	23.3	23.3	71.2
	41-50	12	16.4	16.4	87.7
	51-60	9	12.3	12.3	100.0
	Total	73	100.0	100.0	

Employment Setting (consolidated groups)

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	College/University	27	37.0	37.0	37.0
	Clinic	14	19.2	19.2	56.2
	Secondary School	21	28.8	28.8	84.9
	Other	11	15.1	15.1	100.0
	Total	73	100.0	100.0	

Group Statistics

	Gender	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean
Self-Report El Test	Male	33	126.64	12.864	2.239
	Female	40	128.85	13.974	2.209

Independent Samples Test

				uepenuent :	samples rea	St				
			Levene's Test for Equality of Variances t-test for Equality of Means					·		
									95% Confidenc Differ	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean Difference	Std. Error Difference	Lower	Upper
Self-Report El Test	Equal variances assumed	.463	.498	698	71	.487	-2.214	3.171	-8.537	4.110
	Equal variances not assumed			704	70.111	.484	-2.214	3.146	-8.488	4.060

Descriptives

Self-Report El Test

					95% Confidence Interval for Mean			
	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
21-30	35	129.43	12.777	2.160	125.04	133.82	105	156
31-40	17	125.53	13.739	3.332	118.47	132.59	98	155
41-50	12	125.33	15.704	4.533	115.36	135.31	98	149
51-60	9	129.44	13.408	4.469	119.14	139.75	108	148
Total	73	127.85	13.437	1.573	124.71	130.98	98	156

Test of Homogeneity of Variances

Self-Report El Test

Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.	
.203	3	69	.894	

ANOVA

Self-Report El Test

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	277.647	3	92.549	.502	.682
Within Groups	12721.696	69	184.372		
Total	12999.342	72			

Post Hoc Tests

Multiple Comparisons

Self-Report El Test Bonferroni

(I) Age (Categorical)	(J) Age (Categorical)				95% Confide	ence Interval
		Mean Difference (I- J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
21-30	31-40	3.899	4.014	1.000	-7.01	14.80
	41-50	4.095	4.542	1.000	-8.24	16.43
	51-60	016	5.075	1.000	-13.80	13.77
31-40	21-30	-3.899	4.014	1.000	-14.80	7.01
	41-50	.196	5.120	1.000	-13.71	14.10
	51-60	-3.915	5.597	1.000	-19.12	11.29
41-50	21-30	-4.095	4.542	1.000	-16.43	8.24
	31-40	196	5.120	1.000	-14.10	13.71
	51-60	-4.111	5.988	1.000	-20.38	12.15
51-60	21-30	.016	5.075	1.000	-13.77	13.80
	31-40	3.915	5.597	1.000	-11.29	19.12
	41-50	4.111	5.988	1.000	-12.15	20.38

Descriptives

Self-Report El Test

					95% Confidence Interval for Mean			
	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
College/University	27	128.67	14.954	2.878	122.75	134.58	105	156
Clinic	14	127.21	10.416	2.784	121.20	133.23	111	150
Secondary School	21	126.38	13.808	3.013	120.10	132.67	98	149
Other	11	129.45	13.656	4.117	120.28	138.63	98	147
Total	73	127.85	13.437	1.573	124.71	130.98	98	156

Test of Homogeneity of Variances

Self-Report El Test

Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Sig.
.737	3	69	.534

ANOVA

Self-Report El Test

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	97.306	3	32.435	.173	.914
Within Groups	12902.037	69	186.986		
Total	12999.342	72			

Multiple Comparisons

Self-Report El Test Bonferroni

(I) Employment Setting	(J) Employment Setting				95% Confide	ence Interval
(fewer groups)	(fewer groups)	Mean Difference (I- J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
College/University	Clinic	1.452	4.504	1.000	-10.78	13.69
	Secondary School	2.286	3.979	1.000	-8.52	13.09
	Other	788	4.891	1.000	-14.07	12.50
Clinic	College/University	-1.452	4.504	1.000	-13.69	10.78
	Secondary School	.833	4.718	1.000	-11.98	13.65
	Other	-2.240	5.510	1.000	-17.21	12.73
Secondary School	College/University	-2.286	3.979	1.000	-13.09	8.52
	Clinic	833	4.718	1.000	-13.65	11.98
	Other	-3.074	5.089	1.000	-16.90	10.75
Other	College/University	.788	4.891	1.000	-12.50	14.07
	Clinic	2.240	5.510	1.000	-12.73	17.21
	Secondary School	3.074	5.089	1.000	-10.75	16.90

Hypothesis Test Summary

	Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	Decision
1	The distribution of Self-Report El Test is the same across categories of Gender.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.485	Retain the null hypothesis.

Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05.

Descriptive Statistics

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Self-Report El Test	73	127.85	13.437	98	156
Employment Setting (fewer groups)	73	2.96	2.104	1	7

Kruskal-Wallis Test

Ranks

	Employment Setti	N	Mean Rank
Self-Report El Test	College/University	27	36.83
	Clinic	14	35.93
	Secondary School	21	35.81
	Other	11	41.05
	Total	73	

Test Statisticsa,b

	Self-Report El Test
Chi-square	.504
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	.918

a. Kruskal Wallis Test

b. Grouping Variable: Employment Setting (fewer groups)

Descriptive Statistics

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Self-Report El Test	73	127.85	13.437	98	156
Age (Categorical)	73	1.93	1.071	1	4

Kruskal-Wallis Test

Ranks

	Age (Categorical)	N	Mean Rank
Self-Report El Test	21-30	35	39.41
	31-40	17	33.91
	41-50	12	33.00
	51-60	9	38.78
	Total	73	

Test Statisticsa,b

	Self-Report El Test
Chi-square	1.304
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	.728

- a. Kruskal Wallis Test
- b. Grouping Variable: Age (Categorical)